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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES ?, 2018
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA

EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE

The Grand Jury charges:

CLERK
US. RICT COURT

)
) 

MIDDLE DIST. OF ALA.

) CR. NO..5 Nu( 3'7,11,:itd
) {18 U.S.C. § 1343;

) 18 U.S.C. § 1349;

) 18 U.S.C. § 371;

) 18 U.S.C. § 1001;
) 18 U.S.C. § 1519;
) 18 U.S.C. § 2]

)
) INDICTMENT

REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

At all times relevant to this lndictment:

1. The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) was an

administration of the United States Department of Transportation (DOT). The FMCSA's

mission was to reduce crashes, fatalities, and injuries involving large trucks and buses. lt did so,

in part, by promulgating regulations governing the issuance of commercial driver's licenses

(CDLs). CDLs were specialized licenses issued by state governments authorizing individuals to

operate large or heavy vehicles. While state governments issued CDLs, the FMCSA regulations

set minimum standards that must be met before a state could issue a CDL. The regulations

governing CDLS were found in Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations. They are referred

to as the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations.

2. Section 391.41 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations contained a

regulation promulgated by the FMCSA requiring that no person may operate a commercial

motor vehicle unless he or she is medically qualified to do so. The regulation also defined
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specific criteria that must be met for a person to be considered medically qualified. Among

those criteria were criteria related to an individual's vision, cardiovascular health, hearing,

pulmonary health, and history of diabetes.

3. To ensure that individuals seeking or possessing CDLs are medically qualified,

Section 391.41 required that all persons seeking a CDL undergo an initial medical examination

and that all persons holding CDLs undergo a subsequent medical examination at least every two

years. These medical examinations are commonly referred to as "DOT physicals."

4. Section 391.42 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations required that DOT

physicals were to be performed by certified medical examiners listed on the FMCSA's National

Registry of Certified Medical Examiners (National Registry).

5. Section 390.103 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations defined criteria for

becoming a certified medical examiner. Those criteria required that a person seeking to be a

certified medical examiner: (1) be a licensed health care professional (including a physician,

osteopath, physician's assistant, or advanced practice nurse); (2) complete a DOT-sponsored

training program; and (3) pass the FMCSA's medical examiner certification test.

6. Section 391.43 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations set forth specific

components that must be present in a valid DOT physical. Specifically, a valid DOT physical

was to consist of: (1) a review of the subject's health history, including a listing of past surgeries,

current medications, and diagnosed medical conditions; (2) a check of the subject's pulse rate

and blood pressure; (3) a check of the subject's height and weight; (4) an analysis of a sample of

the subject's urine for the presence of sugars and proteins that could be indicative of diabetes;

(5) tests of the subject s vision; (6) tests of the subject's hearing; and (7) a general review of the

subject's appearance and bodily systems.
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7. Section 391.43 also required that a certified medical examiner complete the

Medical Examination Form, MCSA 5875, during the course of a DOT physical. This form is

commonly referred to as a "long form." The first section of the long form was the "driver

history" section. It was to be completed by the individual undergoing the DOT physical. In the

driver history section, the subject was to provide comprehensive information regarding his

present and historical health. The second section was the "examination report." That section

was to be completed by the medical examiner. In the examination report, the medical examiner

was to report on the results of the requisite tests and checks. At the conclusion of the long form,

the medical examiner was to state whether or not the subject was medically qualified pursuant to

the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations. The examiner was to then sign the form and

provide his unique National Registry number. Above the signature line was the following

certification to which the examiner must agree: "I have performed this evaluation for

certification. 1 have personally reviewed all available records and recorded information

pertaining to this evaluation, and attest to the best of my knowledge, I believe it to be true and

correct."

8. If a medical examiner deemed a subject medically qualified, then Section 391.43

required the medical examiner to complete another form, the Medical Examiner's Certificate,

MCSA-5876. That form is commonly referred to as a "medical card." The medical card was a

one-page document verifying that the subject met the medical qualification criteria. It was to be

signed by the medical examiner and it included the following certification to which the medical

examiner must agree: "The information I have provided regarding this physical examination is

true and complete. A complete Medical Examination Report Form, MCSA-5875, with any

attachments embodies my findings completely and correctly, and is on file in my office."
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9. Section 391.43 also required that, if a medical examiner deemed a subject

medically qualified, then the medical examiner was to: (1) make copies of both the long form

and the medical card; (2) give the original versions of both forms to the subject; and (3) retain

the copies on file in his or her office for no less than three years. The regulation also stated that,

every calendar month, a medical examiner was to transmit specified completed records

associated with all DOT physicals performed during the preceding month by the medical

examiner to the FMCSA's Office of Carrier, Driver and Vehicle Safety Standards. The medical

examiner was to do so electronically using a secure internet account. Each medical examiner

listed on the National Registry had his or her own username and password to facilitate

transmitting these documents to the FMCSA.

INTRODUCTION 

Unless otherwise indicated, at all times relevant to this Indictment:

10. Defendant Kenneth G. Edwards was a chiropractor licensed by the Alabama State

Board of Chiropractic Examiners. He was also the sole member (owner) of Back & Neck Rehab,

LLC (Back & Neck Rehab). Back & Neck Rehab was a limited liability corporation registered

with the Office of the Secretary of State of Alabama. Edwards practiced chiropractic medicine

through Back & Neck Rehab at the business's offices in Phenix City, Russell County, Alabama.

Additionally, Edwards was the only licensed health care professional to practice through Back &

Neck Rehab.

11. Since in or about 2007, Edwards performed DOT physicals on customers of Back

& Neck Rehab. In 2014, Edwards completed the necessary coursework and passed the requisite

examination to become a certified medical examiner. Accordingly, Edwards was listed on the

FMCSA's National Registry. He was also provided with a unique user name and password to
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electronicaily transmit records of physicals to the FMCSA.

12. Back & Neck Rehab employed Defendant Joann Bush to serve as a medical

assistant to Edwards. Bush did not hold any professional license related to the practice of

medicine. Back & Neck Rehab also employed Defendant Andrea Daigle to serve as an office

manager.

COUNT 1 
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud)

13. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 18 of this Indictment

are realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

14. Beginning on an unknown date and continuing until on or about December 5,

2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendants,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE,

did knowingly and intentionally conspire, combine, and agree with themselves and others, both

known and unknown, to commit offenses against the United States, specifically, wire fraud, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 1343, that is, the defendants knowingly and

willfully executed and attempted to execute a scheme and artifice to obtain, by means of

materially false and fraudulent representations, money and property. All in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1349.

COUNTS 2 THROUGH 15 
(Wire Fraud)

15. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 14 of this lndictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

16. Beginning on an unknown date and continuing until on or about December 5,
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2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendants,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE,

each aiding and abetting the others, knowingly and willfully executed and attempted to execute a

scheme and artifice to obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent representations, money

and property, in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Section 1343 and Title 18, United

States Code, Section 2.

MANNER AND MEANS 

17. lt was part of the scheme that:

a. The defendants would advertise to trucking corporations, other businesses,

truck driving schools, and the general public that Back & Neck Rehab performed DOT

physicals;

b. When an individual came to Back & Neck Rehab's office seeking a DOT

physical, the defendants would charge that person no more than $65 for the physical, the subject

would pay the $65 reasonably expecting that, in return, the subject would be subjected to a DOT

physical performed in accordance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations;

c. Once the individual paid for a physical, the defendants would conduct an

examination that failed to comply with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations governing

the performance of DOT physicals, in that:

i. Bush and Daigle, neither of whom were listed on the National

Registry or had any professional medical license, would actually perform many of the DOT

physicals, particularly when Edwards was out of the office or otherwise occupied;

ii. ln most cases, neither Edwards, nor Bush, nor Daigle would ever
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examine the subject's hearing, as required by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations; and

iii. Edwards, Bush, and Daigle would periodically fail to perform other

required aspects of a DOT physical, including, but not limited to, a urinalysis, vision test, and

review of the subject's health history;

d. After performing an inadequate physical, one of Edwards, Bush, or Daigle

(whichever was performing the particular DOT physical) would write false entries on the long

form pertaining to the subject being examined. For example, Edwards, Bush, or Daigle would

write results of hearing tests that were never performed. Edwards, Bush, or Daigle would also

falsely report the results of tests that were performed when accurately reporting such results

would require that the subject be reported as not medically qualified. Edwards, Bush, or Daigle

would also, on occasion, alter the health history reported by the subject when the subject

reported a condition that would require the subject be reported as not medically qualified;

e. After making false entries on the long form pertaining to the subject being

examined, one of Edwards, Bush, or Daigle (whichever had performed the particular DOT

physical) would sign (using Edwards's signature) the certification contained on the subject's

long form. ln doing so, Edwards, Bush, or Daigle would knowingly falsely certify that the

information contained in the long form was true and correct and that, based on that information,

the subject was medically qualified. In instances when Bush or Daigle (and not Edwards)

performed the particular DOT physical, Bush or Daigle would knowingly falsely certify that

Edwards had personally performed the DOT physical;

f. After completing the long form, one of Edwards, Bush, or Daigle would

issue to the subject a medical card. Before doing so, one of Edwards, Bush, or Daigle

(whichever performed the particular DOT physical) would sign (using Edwards's signature) the
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medical card. In doing so, Edwards, Bush, or Daigle would knowingly falsely certify that the

information provided was true and complete;

g- After completing the long form and medical card, one of Edwards, Bush,

or Daigle would make a copy of the long form and medical card and then give the subject the

original copy of each form. The defendants would then retain the copies in the records of Back

& Neck Rehab;

h. Approximately once per month, Bush or Daigle would, using Edwards's

unique user name and password, electronically transmit to the FMCSA using wire

communications in interstate cornmerce records related to physicals performed by the defendants

during the previous month. In doing so, the defendants would falsely cause the FMCSA and the

subjects to conclude that the subjects named in the records had been examined pursuant to the

standards set forth in Section 391.43 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations and were

medically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle. In fact, as the defendants then knew,

the subjects had not been examined pursuant to the regulatory standards and thus the defendants

could not state whether or not each subject was medically qualified; and

i. The defendants would issue these false documents to the subjects and

transmit these false documents to the FMCSA for the purpose of obtaining future business from

trucking companies, truck driving schools, and individuals for DOT physicals.

THE CHARGES 

18. On or about each of the dates set forth below, in Russell County, within the

Middle District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendants,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE,
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for the purpose of executing the scheme described above, and attempting to do so, caused to be

transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce the signals and sounds

described below for each count, each transmission constituting a separate count:

COUNT SUBJECT
OF DOT
PHYSICAL

ON OR ABOUT DATE
THAT DOT PHYSICAL
WAS PERFORMED

ON OR ABOUT DATE THAT THE
RECORD WAS ELECTRONICALLY
TRANSMITTED TO THE FMCSA
USING WIRE COMMUNICATION
IN INTERSTATE COMMERCE

2 M.B. April 25, 2016 May 3, 2016

3 D.K. May 3, 2016 May 19, 2016

4 W.P. May 16, 2016 May 17, 2016

5 K.B. June 6, 2016 June 8, 2016

6 M.E. June 20, 2016 June 22, 2016

7 T.D. July 18, 2016 July 19, 2016

8 K.D. August 22, 2016 August 30, 2017

9 K.S. August 22, 2016 September 1, 2016

10 K.J. February 10, 2017 March 30, 2017

11 D.M. March 20, 2017 March 28, 2017

12 W.B. March 30, 2017 March 30, 2017

13 J.Z. March 30, 2017 March 30, 2017

14 J.L. March 30, 2017 March 30, 2017

15 K.P. May 1, 2017 May 1, 2017

Each in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 and Title 18, United States Code,

Section 2.
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COUNT 16 
(Conspiracy)

19. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through I8 of this Indictment

are realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

20. Beginning on an unknown date and continuing until on or about December 5,

2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendants,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE,

as well as others, both known and unknown, did knowingly and intentionally conspire, combine,

and agree with themselves and others, to commit offenses against the United States, specifically,

using false documents, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001, and falsifying

federal records, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519. All in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

OVERT ACTS

21. In furtherance of the conspiracy to unlawfully use false documents, Defendant

Edwards knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that document to contain a

materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter within the jurisdiction

of the DOT, by certifying on a DOT Medical Examination Form MCSA-5875 (that is, a long

form) that the defendant conducted a medical examination of a person, J.Z., in accordance with

the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations when the defendant knew that he had not in fact

performed all the required medical procedures.

22. In furtherance of the conspiracy to unlawfully use false documents, Defendant

Bush knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that document to contain a

materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter within the jurisdiction
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of the DOT, by certifying on a DOT long form that her co-defendant, Edwards, conducted a

medical examination of a person, W.B., in accordance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety

Regulations when the defendant knew that Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical

examination at all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact

performed all of the required procedures.

23. In furtherance of the conspiracy to unlawfully use false documents, Defendant

Bush knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that document to contain a

materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter within the jurisdiction

of the DOT, by certifying on a DOT long form that her co-defendant, Edwards, conducted a

medical examination of a person, J.L., in accordance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety

Regulations when the defendant knew that Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical

examination at all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact

performed all of the required procedures.

24. In furtherance of the conspiracy to falsify federal records, Defendant Edwards

knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record with the intent to impede, obstruct,

and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of

the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered onto a form transmitted to the

DOT's Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards that the defendant performed a

medical examination of a person, J.Z., in accordance with federal regulations, even though the

defendant had not completed all the procedures listed on the long form.

25. ln furtherance of the conspiracy to falsify federal records, Defendant Bush

knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record with the intent to impede, obstruct,

and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of
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the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered onto a form transmitted to the

DOT's Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards that the defendant's co-

defendant, Edwards, performed a medical examination of a person, W.B., in accordance with

federal regulations, even though Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical examination at

all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact performed all of the

required procedures listed on the long form.

26. ln furtherance of the conspiracy to falsify federal records, Defendant Bush

knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record with the intent to impede, obstruct,

and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of

the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered onto a form transmitted to the

DOT's Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards that the defendant's co-

defendant, Edwards, performed a medical examination of a person, J.L., in accordance with

federal regulations, even though Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical examination at

all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact performed all of the

required procedures listed on the long form.

COUNT 17 
(Making a False Writing or Document)

27. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Indictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

28. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,

knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that document to contain a materially

false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter within the jurisdiction of the
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DOT, by certifying on a DOT Medical Examination Form MCSA-5875 (that is, a long form) that

the defendant conducted a medical examination of a person, J.Z., in accordance with the Federal

Motor Carrier Safety Regulations when the defendant knew that he had not in fact performed all

the required medical procedures, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

COUNT 18 
(Making a False Writing or Document)

29. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Indictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

30. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS and
JOANN BUSH,

each aiding and abetting the other, knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that

document to contain a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter

within the jurisdiction of the DOT, by certifying on a DOT Medical Examination Form MCSA-

5875 (that is, a long form) that her co-defendant, Kenneth G. Edwards, conducted a medical

examination of a person, W.B., in accordance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations

when the defendant knew that Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical examination at all

and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact performed all of the

required procedures, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001 and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 19 
(Making a False Writing or Document)

31. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this lndictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.
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32. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS and
JOANN BUSH,

each aiding and abetting the other, knowingly made a false writing and document, knowing that

document to contain a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and entry in a matter

within the jurisdiction of the DOT, by certifying on a DOT Medical Examination Form MCSA-

5875 (that is, a long form) that her co-defendant, Kenneth G. Edwards, conducted a medical

examination of a person, J.L., in accordance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations

when the defendant knew that Edwards had not in fact conducted any medical examination at all

and that Bush had conducted the medical examination and had not in fact performed all of the

required procedures, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001 and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 20 
(Falsification of Federal Records)

33. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this lndictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

34. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,

knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record with the intent to impede, obstruct,

and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of

the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered onto a form transmitted to the

DOT' s Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards that the defendant performed a
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medical examination of a person, J.Z., in accordance with federal regulations, even though the

defendant had not completed all the procedures listed on the Medical Examination Form MCSA-

5876 (that is, the long form), in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.

COUNT 21 
(Falsification of Federal Records)

35. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Indictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.

36. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS and
JOANN BUSH,

each aiding and abetting the other, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record

with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper administration of a

matter within the jurisdiction of the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered

onto a form transmitted to the DOT's Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards

that the defendant's co-defendant, Kenneth G. Edwards, performed a medical examination of a

person, W.B., in accordance with federal regulations, even though Edwards had not in fact

conducted any medical examination at all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination

and had not in fact performed all of the required procedures listed on the Medical Examination

Form MCSA-5875 (that is, the long form), in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1519 and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 22 
(Falsification of Federal Records)

37. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Indictment

are hereby realleged and incorporated herein as if copied verbatim.
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38. On or about March 30, 2017, in Russell County, within the Middle District of

Alabama, the defendant,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS and
JOANN BUSH,

each aiding and abetting the other, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a DOT record

with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper administration of a

matter within the jurisdiction of the DOT, to wit: the defendant knowingly and falsely entered

onto a form transmitted to the DOT's Office of Carrier, Driver, and Vehicle Safety Standards

that the defendant's co-defendant, Kenneth G. Edwards, performed a medical examination of a

person, J.L., in accordance with federal regulations, even though Edwards had not in fact

conducted any medical examination at all and that Bush had conducted the medical examination

and had not in fact performed all of the required procedures listed on the Medical Examination

Form MCSA-5875 (that is, the long form), in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1519 and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

A. The allegations contained in counts 1 through 19 of this Indictment are hereby

realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7).

B. Upon conviction of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 1349, 1343, 371 and 100I, set forth in counts I through 19 of this Indictment, the

defendants,

KENNETH G. EDWARDS,
JOANN BUSH, and
ANDREA DAIGLE,
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shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), any

and all property constituting or derived from proceeds the said defendants obtained directly or

indirectly as a result of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, 1343,

371 and 1001. The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: a Forfeiture

Money Judgment in a sum representing the approximate amount of proceeds the defendants

obtained as a result of the said offenses.

C. lf any of the property described in this forfeiture allegation, as a result of any act

or omission of the defendants:

(1) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(2) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

(3) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

(4) has been substantially diminished in value; or

(5) has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty,

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section

2461(c).

A11 pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7).
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LOUIS V NKLIN, SR.
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Jon han S. Ross
Assistant United States Attorney

- 
Steven H. Lee
Assistant United States Attorney

K- vin avidson
Assistant United States Attorney

A TRUE BILL:

Foreperson
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